[image: G:\Communications\internal document banner\internal document banner-01.jpg]2021 NJ SAA Proposal Window Economic Evaluation FAQ
NJ SAA Proposal Window Economic Analyses -- Questions and Answers

For the purpose of this window, PJM and NJBPU will perform a series of analyses to evaluate the economic performance of transmission proposals submitted in support of the NJ public policy goal to interconnect up to 7,500 MW of offshore wind generation between 2028 and 2035.  

The solicitation window is being conducted under PJM’s State Agreement Approach component of the Regional Transmission Expansion Plan (RTEP). As part of this process, PJM will conduct energy market and capacity market simulations to support the NJBPU’s evaluation and selection of the most cost effective transmission package to achieve its policy goals, in accordance with the evaluation criteria outlined in the SAA Proposal Window Overview. The NJBPU will estimate the energy-market-related benefits of selected packages of transmission enhancements by comparing PJM’s future-year production cost simulations both with and without each transmission package. 

PJM’s portion of SAA-related economic analyses are similar to, and rely heavily on, the market simulation tools that PJM uses for the Market Efficiency component of the RTEP. This technical document supplements the information contained in Manual 14b and Manual 14F, which describes the Market Efficiency component of the RTEP, for the purpose of this SAA proposal window and is being provided to help window participants better understand particular aspects of the various economic studies so that they can apply them as part of their own analysis for the 2021 NJ OSW SAA window.
Building on PJM economic study results, NJBPU will evaluate the transmission packages for the purposes of determining their net costs and risks from the perspective of New Jersey ratepayers as outlined in the evaluation criteria section in Overview document and described in more detail in Attachment A.
Energy Market Benefits
PJM will undertake production cost analysis for the New Jersey Offshore Wind Study.  This analysis is primarily focused on estimating the New Jersey 2028 Annual Gross Load Payments benefits of selected transmission packages in combination with the associated off-shore wind generation that these packages are able to interconnect with the PJM system. Additional outputs of the simulations that the BPU will utilize in its evaluation are listed below. Each selected package thus includes a selected transmission proposal (or combination of transmission solutions) along with the OSW generation injection scenario it supports. 

For this analysis, all selected transmission packages will need to be compliant with the PJM Planning reliability standards. Therefore, to avoid reliability concerns affecting the economic analysis, each selected OSW+Transmission package will have been vetted by PJM for reliability concerns prior to the production cost modeling. 

The PJM analysis will utilize its production cost simulation tool, PROMOD, which incorporates extensive details, including generating unit operating characteristics, transmission grid topology and constraints to provide nodal locational marginal price (LMP) forecasting and transmission analysis. The PROMOD “base case” used by PJM as the starting point for this analysis includes the best available topology (2025 RTEP) and the forecasted 2028 market conditions as currently used for the 2020/21 Long-Term Window for Market Efficiency analyses.  

PJM will then create a “change case” for each selected OSW+Transmission package by adding the proposed transmission solutions and the associated incremental OSW generation to the base case.  PJM and the BPU will also select a reference OSW+Transmission package that approximately reflects how incremental OSW capacity would be interconnected through individual generation tie lines.
PJM will account for all NJ transmission reliability limits on the impacted PJM grid for the base case and the packages of proposed solutions in the change case (consistent with study results from PJM’s reliability analysis) to ensure that relevant NJ transmission limits are all identified, defined, added to, and enforced in the PROMOD simulations. Moreover, PJM will model the full capability of the “Option 3” offshore connections based on available modeling capability within PJM tools and procedures.
PJM may also evaluate a number of sensitivities that the NJ BPU staff will specify for the purpose of analyzing the extent to which the evaluated packages of transmission solutions differ in their market-related impacts, risks, and risk mitigation.

Energy Market Simulation Outputs
PJM will provide the following PROMOD outputs from the energy market simulations for the base case and all OSW+Transmission change cases to help the BPU Staff evaluate the system impacts and estimate NJ energy-market-related benefits for each of the selected transmission packages:  
· Estimated NJ Load LMPs and Gross Load Payments for NJ load serving entities (PSEG, JCPL, AECO, RECO).
· The generation LMPs and energy market value of New Jersey’s already-contracted and additional OSW generation at the POIs.
· Simulated OSW energy and corresponding MWh curtailments of New Jersey’s OSW generation. 
· The amount of energy transferred between POIs through the “Option 3” offshore network.
· The value of IARRs created by the proposed solutions (if any)
· Estimated emissions in New Jersey
· PJM-wide production costs 

BPU staff will then use these energy market simulation results to estimate the “net costs” of the selected transmission packages to New Jersey customers, as described in Attachment A.  

Capacity Market Benefits
A transmission solution package may also provide capacity market economic benefits to the extent the proposed solution enable changes to locations of OSW capacity injections or increases the Capacity Emergency Transfer Limit (CETL) of one or more modeled Locational Deliverability Areas (LDAs). PJM will use capacity market simulations utilizing the BRA engine to estimate the reduction in capacity load payments for a given LDA associated with OSW capacity injections and any increased CETL enabled by the transmission solution. The most recent planning parameters and capacity market supply sell offers serve as inputs to the BRA engine simulations, with and without the proposed transmission enhancement and the corresponding wind generation injections, to determine economic benefits for the year 2028.   

PJM Capacity Market Simulation Outputs
PJM will provide the following outputs from the capacity market simulations for the base case and all OSW+Transmission change cases to help the BPU Staff evaluate the system impacts and estimate NJ capacity-market-related benefits for each of the selected transmission packages:  


· The difference in aggregate cleared capacity MW by resource type for the entire RTO for each proposed solution package.

· Results of a limited analyses to illustrate the sensitivity of prices to small changes of supply and demand in each of the New Jersey LDAs (across a range of several thousand MW).  
· Locational Reliability Charges by NJ Load zone
· Increase in CETL created by the proposed solutions (if any)
· The value of ICTRs created by the proposed solutions (if any)
· Capacity prices by NJ LDA
BPU staff will then use these capacity market simulation results to estimate the “net costs” of the selected transmission packages to New Jersey customers, as described in Attachment A.  
Generator Deliverability Sensitivity Study To Examine Potential Curtailments With OSW At Full Output
To further support the BPU’s evaluation of proposed OSW+Transmission packages PJM will undertake additional power flow analyses as follows.
· Post-upgrade cases:  for all three seasonal power flow cases with the selected upgrades, identify any additional N-1 deliverability limitations with all the NJ wind generators collectively dispatched at 100% in the base case.  To accommodate the additional wind generation scale down all PJM gas and oil CT/IC/STs and, if run out of these resource types then scale down PJM coal and combined cycle units uniformly.  If there are no additional deliverability limitations then examine the OSW units at 125%. Also identify potential high cost upgrades associated with these additional limits.
· The purpose of this test is to determine how much headroom there is beyond the status quo reliability ramping limits.  More headroom under N-1 events may mean reduced curtailment risks.  
· Outputs:  Additional N-1 generator deliverability violations due to the change in base dispatch.  Office-level cost estimates of any new upgrade requirements to support the increased wind output.

Transmission Project Constructability and Cost Review
As part of the proposal evaluation, PJM will evaluate and share with BPU the project cost and constructability as described in PJM Manual 14F, Section 8 Project Evaluation. This will include an initial planning level cost review and initial feasibility review, which may be followed by a detailed cost review and detailed constructability review of the submitted proposals, as described in Section 8.1 and, where applicable, Section 8.4.
Company Evaluation 
Consistent with PJM Manual 14F, Section 8.1.4 PJM will perform and share with BPU a planning level company evaluation to ensure that the proposing entity possesses the ability to design, construct, own, operate and maintain the proposed solution.




General Economic Evaluation Questions and Responses

1. Regarding the market value of offshore wind generation, can PJM provide guidelines on how it will evaluate the following criteria:
1. Maximization of the energy, capacity and Renewable Energy Credit (REC) values of offshore wind generation delivered to the chosen POIs
2. Mitigation of curtailment risks - is the target to have 0% curtailment?
3. Determining level and sustainability of PJM capacity, congestion, or other rights created by the proposed solution that increase the delivered value of the wind generation or otherwise reduce the total cost of the proposal- how will the value be determined?

See discussion of economic evaluation discussion for details of what analysis that PJM and/or NJBPU will perform. The NJ BPU will consider differences in expected curtailments of OSW generation within its evaluation of net transmission cost and risks.  

2. Regarding additional NJ benefits, can PJM provide age of existing transmission infrastructure (if individual lines information cannot be shared, at the very least class average, for example 230kV lines are 30 years old, 500kV lines are 20 years old, etc.) in the New Jersey area  to help developers gauge synergies with transmission solutions opportunistic replacement of aging transmission infrastructure (BPU's emphasis)
 
PJM does not have general information regarding the age of existing transmission infrastructure, beyond system needs or projects that have been announced at TEAC or subregional RTEP meetings. 


3. Can PJM provide guidance on how to perform and evaluate:
(a) capacity market benefits (including CETL increases),
(b) other benefits, including state energy sufficiency, improvements in local transmission and distribution outage statistics, reduced utilization of aging infrastructure, improvements in local resiliency.  

See discussion of economic evaluation discussion for details of what analysis that PJM and/or NJBPU will perform.

4. Regarding providing additional onshore-grid-related benefits that improve PJM market performance and provide New Jersey ratepayer cost savings, can PJM provide guidance on how to perform and evaluate improvements in local transmission and in particular distribution outages as Transmission developers may not have access to this data?

See discussion of economic evaluation discussion for details of what analysis that PJM and/or NJBPU will perform.



5. Please elaborate on the statement in the In the BPU Supplemental SAA Bid Data Collection form that states “[a]n award to build a Qualified Project is contingent upon the successful Applicant obtaining all required local, State and/or Federal permits and/or approvals”.  This doesn’t appear to be how RTEP projects are normally awarded.  If a developer is unable to receive any and all permits is the project then awarded to a ‘back-stop’ project and developer or is a different project and developer chosen through a subsequent RFP?
This statement has been deleted from the BPU Supplemental SAA Bid Data Collection form.
	
6. Economic Analysis
· Will PJM be sharing a standard template for cost-benefit analysis?
· What quantitative benefit metrics will be used?
· What qualitative benefit metrics will be used?

See discussion of economic evaluation discussion for details of what analysis that PJM and/or NJBPU will perform.

7. Can PJM please provide the following parameters that PJM will be using in the cost benefit analysis?

0. Inflation rate/General Escalation rate:  PJM/NJBPU will apply the same escalation rate to all projects in the financial evaluations, with consideration for any cost commitment submitted by the developer.  The escalation rate has not been determined at this time.  Developers should indicate what escalation rate is used in its financial analysis that is submitted.
0. Discount rate: PJM/NJBPU will apply the same discount rate to all projects in the financial evaluations, with consideration for any cost commitment submitted by the developer.  The discount rate has not been determined at this time.  Developers should indicate what discount rate is used in its financial analysis that is submitted.
0. Annual Carrying Charge Rate for Offshore transmission:  The annual carrying charge for transmission assets is determined by the transmission owner based on its filed rate.  For the purpose of analysis PJM will use the weighted average carrying charge for the filed rates, which can be found in the Transmission Cost Information Center on the PJM Construction Status page at https://www.pjm.com/planning/project-construction 
0. Annual Carrying Charge Rate for Onshore transmission: See response above.

Proposers should refer to the Attachment A: NJBPU SAA Economic Evaluation Framework for additional details on the cost benefit analysis that will be performed. 


8. 
Will PJM or the BPU specify how cost of removal is to be treated for any offshore assets?   That is, should we assume that decommissioning costs are collected during the life of the project to build up the balance for retirement, or assume collection of all decommissioning costs at once at retirement? If the former, does the collected amount reduce the rate base concurrently or would it need to be tracked in a separate account akin to asset retirement obligation for nuclear?
The developer should propose an approach for how decommissioning costs will be collected during the life of the assets (either throughout the asset life or at retirement) that aligns with its proposed cost recovery approach. If the developer proposes for the decommissioning costs to be incurred throughout the life of the assets, the developer should propose an approach to return collected amounts to ratepayers in the case that the facilities are repowered or otherwise left in place at the end of their estimated life instead of being retired and removed.
9. PJM has specified that PJM/NJBPU will use a reference case of transmission solutions as a benchmark to evaluate proposals. What steps will be taken to develop the reference case? Will the reference case be developed based on “least offshore interconnection cost”, “least total project cost including onshore upgrades” or “least present value of Net OSW Transmission costs”?
The BPU will identify the reference cost of the transmission solutions that reasonably reflects a "but-for" case with the SAA solicitation in which individual generation lead lines are the primary approach to interconnecting the offshore wind resources to the onshore transmission system.  Since all bids will be evaluated against the same reference case, its selection will not affect the ranking of the bids relative to each other.

10. How will the quantified benefits be extrapolated? Will PJM use multiple year simulations to calculate the benefits for future years? If so, can PJM clarify if the OSW generation will be incrementally modeled across the study years?

PJM will run a single year simulation based on the future-year assumptions of the 2020/21 Long-Term Window Market Efficiency studies and may also evaluate a number of sensitivities that the NJ BPU staff will specify for the purpose of analyzing the extent to which the evaluated packages of transmission solutions differ in their market-related impacts, risks, and risk mitigation. In those simulations, PJM will analyze the total amount of offshore wind generation supported by the SAA projects.
 
A developer should note in their proposal whether an intermediate case in which the SAA projects are phased-in over time is critical to their evaluation and if so which intermediate conditions (SAA projects and offshore wind generation) should be simulated. PJM and BPU will then consider whether simulating the intermediate case is in fact advisable when evaluating the proposals.

The BPU anticipates that it will rely on PJM’s simulation results and various alternative extrapolation assumptions to evaluate the bids’ costs and risks associated with their sensitivities to alternative assumptions about future market conditions.

11. How should developers treat asset life in the bids? Does BPU want specific asset lives for each piece of equipment, or are “average” values sufficient?

As specified in Attachment A of the Economic Evaluation FAQ, the BPU will evaluate each proposal using an annualized/levelized cost estimate to normalize for differences in asset lives.  To estimate the annualized costs, the BPU will need to know the different lives of different components, so the developers should specify the asset lives for equipment with sufficiently different lifetimes. For example, if the cables and platforms last for 50 years but HVDC converters last for only 25 years, that level of detail should be reflected in the proposal.

12. How will the BPU evaluate two bidders with very different assumptions for financing costs or capital costs (such as the cost of steel and other commodities)?

If bidders rely on rate-of-return cost recovery (as opposed to a PPA-type cost recovery), the BPU anticipates that it will use standardized cost of equity, cost of debt, and capital structure assumptions, unless bids include a cost cap, ROE cap, or other caps on financing-related cost control mechanisms.  If bidders propose to recover actual incurred costs (e.g., for steel) but assume different materials cost inflation forecasts, the BPU will develop standardized cost assumptions, unless there are cost caps, guarantees, of fixed priced bids.  Due to the challenges in comparing bids with different assumptions, the BPU would prefer bids with cost guarantees.  

13. Will hedging arrangements be welcomed and/or considered a prudent cost?

Hedging provisions will be considered (at least qualitatively) in the evaluation of cost control and risk mitigation measures, as noted in in Attachment A of the Economic Evaluation FAQ.

14. What is the benefit of purchasing CIRs from a member in possession of CIRs at a different point of interconnection versus procuring CIRs through the Interconnection Services Agreement process?  Is there an additional cost for requesting CIRs during the ISA process?   

CIRs can be requested as part of the Interconnection Request process and PJM will identify the required network upgrades to support the CIRs.  Unlike fully awarded CIRs, the network upgrade costs required to support newly requested CIRs are not known until the required Interconnection Studies are completed.  Manual 14a describes the New Service Request Process.

https://pjm.com/-/media/documents/manuals/m14a.ashx

Regarding transfers of CIRs, PJM Manual 14g section 4.4 discusses transfers of CIRs

https://pjm.com/-/media/documents/manuals/m14g.ashx

In order for the holder of Capacity Interconnection Rights to transfer rights under Tariff section 230, the holder of the rights must have completed the following:
•	constructed all necessary system upgrades identified in the ISA or WMPA, and
•	maintained the rights as required by the Tariff.

The following types of CIR transfers are acceptable.  In all cases the transfer of rights will require that the customer or owner enter the New Services Queue with an Interconnection Request.

•	4.1.2 Transfer of CIRs from an Operating Unit
•	4.4.1.3 Transfer of CIRs from a deactivated unit

15. Regarding 2021 SAA Proposal Window to Support NJ OSW: 
Pre-determined Revenue Requirements proposals submission
The BPU Supplemental SAA Bid Data Collection Form (“BPU Form”) asks respondents to use three options for cost control and cost recovery, the second option being “Pre-determined Revenue Requirements”. The BPU Form also states “In this [second option] case, the developer does not need to submit project and financing cost information via the PJM submission forms”. 
 
We have the following questions, given that the PJM submission form (“Competitive Planner Tool”) does not seem to provide a means to submit “Pre-determined Revenue Requirement” bids as contemplated in the BPU Form:
1) Where should bidders submit the amount and other terms of their Pre-determined Revenue Requirement bids? In the BPU Form only?
Submitters must respond to all questions tagged as required (marked with an asterisk), which includes basic cost components listed in the competitive planner user guide.  This information is necessary for PJM to perform its due diligence in evaluation, which may differ from that performed by the NJBPU in its evaluation.   See user guide for additional guidance.  https://www.pjm.com/-/media/etools/planning-center/competitive-planner-user-guide.ashx
A pre-determined revenue requirement is considered a form of cost commitment and proposers must submit all required information under the Cost Containment Commitment section.  Proposers are required to submit cost commitment legal language for a cost commitment, and may include the financial data as supporting documentation.     
2) If the above information should also be submitted in the PJM submission form, can you please specify where and how to make this submission in the PJM Competitive Planner Tool?
See response to question 1 above.
3) Should Pre-determined Revenue Requirement bidders submit the “Project Financial Information” Microsoft Excel file to the PJM Competitive Planner tool?
See response question 1 above
4) Can you please specify which fields should Pre-determined Revenue Requirement bidders leave blank on the “Financial Information” and “Cost Containment Commitment” tabs on the PJM Competitive Planner tool?
See response to question 1 above.
5) Can you please confirm that if any fields are intentionally left blank per #4, above, that bidders will still be able to successfully submit their bids in the Competitive Planner Tool?
See response to question 1 above.
6) Please confirm that answers to the above questions also apply in cases where bidders submit modified or alternative Pre-determined Revenue Requirement bids, for example bids that are Pre-determined Revenue Requirement but also have an element of shared up-side or down-side.
 	See response to question 1 above.
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16. Will PJM be extending the window following the August 31, 2021 revisions to the NJBPU Supplemental Form?
PJM will not be extending the window.  This update to the NJBPU Supplemental form was intended to provide additional clarification what information is sought.      
17. The August 31, 2021 revisions to the BPU Supplemental Bid Data Collection form asks proposers to provide the estimated item V.F revenue requirement for each proposed solution.  Is this required for all solutions, including greenfield and upgrades?
It is preferable that proposers submit the estimated revenue requirement for all solutions, but it is not required.  
18. The 8.31.2021 revisions to the BPU Supplemental SAS Bid Data Collection form requests the following: 
E. Discount Rate 
F. Revenue Requirement 

a. Estimated annual revenue requirement for each proposed solution from commercial operation through the book life of the plant. 

b. Provide revenue requirement build-up workbook, including depreciation, cost of debt, return on equity, federal and state income tax, property tax, and other costs e.g., O&M, A&G, other income tax. 

Question A: What discount rate is the BPU seeking, and how will it be used? 
PJM/NJBPU will apply the same discount rate to all projects in the financial evaluations, with consideration for any cost commitment submitted by the developer.  The discount rate has not been determined at this time.  Developers should indicate what discount rate is used in its financial analysis that is submitted.

Question B: For the “revenue requirement build-up workbook” is the BPU expecting a working Excel model or would a PDF of the key metrics meet the BPU’s needs?
An Excel version of the revenue requirement build-up workbook is preferred but a PDF of the key metrics will also be acceptable.
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